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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

BRODTI INC,, )
Plaintiff, ;
V. ; C.A. No. 24-173-JCB
GOOGLE LLC, ; JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant. ;
)

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff BrodTi Inc. (“BrodTi” or “Plaintiff”) files this Amended Complaint against
Defendant Google LLC (“Google” or “Defendant”), which is timely as brought before the filing
of an answer and as a response to Defendant’s motion to dismiss (D.I. 9, 10, 16), and as claim for
relief states as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is an action brought under the Patent Laws of the United States, Title 35,
United States Code, including 35 U.S.C. § 271, for infringement of United States Patent No.

11,416,898 (“the "898 Patent”).

PARTIES
2. Plaintiff is a Delaware corporation with an address at P.O. Box 6, Fairport, New
York 14450.
3. On information and belief, Defendant is a Delaware limited liability company with

a principal place of business at 1600 Amphitheatre Parkway, Mountain View, California 94043.
Google may be served via its registered agent, Corporation Service Company, located at 251 Little

Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808.
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4. Defendant does business in Delaware, directly and/or through intermediaries, and
offers its products and services, including those accused herein of infringement, to customers and

potential customers located in Delaware.

JURISDICTION

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a)
because this action arises under the Patent Laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 ef seq.

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is a resident
of Delaware and regularly conducts business and has committed acts of patent infringement within
this District, giving rise to this action. Defendant has established minimum contacts with this
forum such that the exercise of jurisdiction over Defendant would not offend traditional notions of
fair play and substantial justice. Defendant has committed and continues to commit acts of
infringement in this District and elsewhere in the United States by making, using, offering to sell,
and selling its infringing products and services and inducing, causing, urging, encouraging, aiding,
and abetting the infringement of the *898 Patent by third-party users of its products and services,
including residents of Delaware.

7. Venue in this judicial district is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400 because
Defendant is a resident of Delaware as a Delaware limited liability company.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Ownership and Chain of Title

8. Plaintiff is the owner of all rights, title, and interest in and to the 898 Patent. A

true and correct copy of the *898 Patent is attached as Exhibit A.
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9. On November 12, 2004, inventor John De Titta filed U.S. Provisional Patent
Application No. 60/626,933 (the “’933 Provisional Application”). A true and correct copy of the
’933 Provisional Application is attached as Exhibit B.

10. On Monday, November 14, 2005, Mr. De Titta filed a non-provisional application,
U.S. Patent Application No. 11/274,706 (the “’706 Application”), timely claiming priority to the
’933 Provisional Application. A true and correct copy of the *706 Application is attached as Exhibit
C.

11. On June 29, 2011, Mr. De Titta assigned to his own wholly-owned company,
HowUDoWin, Inc. (“HowUDoWin”), “the entire right, title and interest in, to, and under the said
INVENTION, and the said [’706 Application], and all non-provisional, divisional, renewal,
substitutional, and continuation applications thereof, for Letters Patent which may be filed for said
Invention.” This assignment agreement, hereinafter referred to as the “2011 Assignment,” was
recorded with the USPTO. A true and correct copy of the 2011 Assignment is attached as Exhibit
D.

12. On August 30, 2013, Mr. De Titta filed U.S. Patent Application No. 14/015,604
(the “’604 Application”). The 604 Application is a continuation-in-part to the 706 Application.
The 2011 Assignment had transferred all right, title and interest in the 604 Application to
HowUDoWin. Alternatively, all such right, title and interest remained in Mr. De Titta’s name as a
matter of law, since future continuations-in-part were not within the scope of the 2011 Assignment.
A true and correct copy of U.S. Patent No. 10,325,290 (the “’290 Patent”), which issued from the
604 Application, is attached as Exhibit E.

13. On November 12, 2014, HowUDoWin assigned back to Mr. De Titta the “Patents,

together with that portion of the good will of the business with which the Patents is associated, and
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all right, title and interest in the Patents,” including the ’604 Application, ‘“Patent Number 1/274,70
[sic] Filed on November 14, 2005,” and the 933 Provisional Application. “Patent Number
1/274,70 [sic] Filed on November 14, 2005 referred to U.S. Patent Application No. 11/274,706,
which was filed on the named date (the first and last digits of the patent number were inadvertently
omitted in the agreement). A true and correct copy of this agreement, hereinafter referred to as the
“2014 Assignment,” is attached as Exhibit F. Therefore, if HowUDoWin owned the ’604
Application by virtue of the 2011 Assignment, Mr. De Titta re-acquired it by assignment; but if
not, the 2014 Assignment was an unnecessary nullity leaving Mr. De Titta as legal title owner
without interruption from its inception as the 604 patent application.

14. The 2014 Assignment has not been recorded with the USPTO, but BrodTi is in the
process of doing so. When the 2014 Assignment was executed, Mr. De Titta assumed that the first
of the two above-named alternatives correctly represented legal title status: that the ’604
Application had been captured by the 2011 Assignment, and Mr. De Titta reacquired it via the
2014 Assignment.

15. Because the 2014 Assignment caused Mr. De Titta to personally own the ’604
Application, or alternatively because he uninterruptedly held title-ownership since a future
continuation-in-part was not within the legal scope of the 2011 Assignment, Mr. De Titta
personally had the right to file continuations based on the 604 Application.

16. On May 24, 2019, Mr. De Titta filed a continuation of the 604 Application, U.S.
Patent Application No. 16/422,106 (the ‘“°106 Application”). As the 106 Application is a
continuation of the 604 Application, either the 2014 Assignment transferred all right, title and
interest in the 106 Application to Mr. De Titta, or alternatively Mr. De Titta held title to the *106

Application as a continuation of the 604 Application which he owned uninterruptedly.
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17. On July 30, 2019, Mr. De Titta assigned the *933 Provisional Application, the then-
issued ’290 Patent resulting from the 604 Application, and the 106 Application to BrodTi. This
assignment agreement, hereinafter referred to as the “2019 Assignment” was recorded with the
USPTO. A true and correct copy of the 2019 Assignment is attached as Exhibit G. At the time of
the 2019 Assignment to BrodTi, Mr. De Titta was the sole owner of all the patents and applications
listed in the 2019 Assignment.

18. On August 16, 2022, the *106 Application issued as the *898 Patent.

19. The chain of patent assignments, including the 2011 Assignment, the 2014
Assignment, and the 2019 Assignment, or alternatively the 2019 Assignment combined with Mr.
De Titta’s uninterrupted title ownership of the 604 Application and its issuing patent despite the
2011 Assignment, resulted in BrodTi being the sole and present owner of the *898 Patent.

The Claimed Invention and the State of the Art

20. The 898 Patent is titled “Method, Systems, and Apparatus for Financing Projects.”
The claimed invention relates to a method, systems, and apparatus for funding that utilizes an
advertiser funding model to eliminate reliance on traditional fundraising systems.

21. Internet-based ad impressions and ad campaign building systems are a technology
area, not an area of solely human activity.

22. The claims of the *898 Patent are directed to a technology platform for advertising
campaigns permitting advertisers to build internet advertising campaigns in a way that puts ad
creatives within the web property content on a publisher’s site, and reserves and allocates at least
part of the ad spend to content owners, as opposed to publishers alone. This doubly-revolutionary
paradigm of how systems deploy ad creatives and allocate its beneficial results constituted an

improvement in a preexisting technological field, not an abstract idea.
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23.  In conventional practice in prior art internet-based ad impressions systems, before
the 2004 and 2005 priority dates of the *898 Patent, an “advertiser” would purchase a “campaign”
that was intended to use an ad creative. The ad creative for such campaigns was deemed separate
from (and not for joining with) the ultimate web content of the publisher who would host the ad
creative.

24.  For example, a pre-2005 banner ad (an image that might include an HTTP address
as metadata) could serve as an ad creative. A pre-2005 banner ad was conventionally understood
to go solely on reserved areas of a publisher’s webpage. This could include the top-of-page,
bottom-of-page, page-sides, or any other area for the ad creative that was previously reserved as
the proper “real estate” for such ad and was external to any content.

25.  In 2005 and earlier, building an internet advertising campaign would
conventionally involve use of a server-based portal for uploading the ad creative during the process
of campaign construction. A user on a web browser, typically a marketing professional, would fill
in fields of a record that would constitute the campaign on a special web page provided by the
portal. Such fields would include start and stop dates, budgets, and (if auction-based) the
acceptable high and low bids per unit (whether impressions, clicks or conversions) permitted for
drawing down campaign budgets. Such portals would also allow the advertiser to specify the type
of ad creative to be deployed (e.g., a top-of-page rectangular banner of particular dimension or
aspect ratio).

26. In 2005 and earlier, ad campaign portals did not permit campaigns intended to inject
ad creatives on/within the media property itself (e.g., joining inside the pre-existing text on a

publisher’s site, or interrupting video play of a publisher’s video with the ad creative).

£02051367;v1 } 6



Case 1:24-cv-00173-JCB Document 19 Filed 09/13/24 Page 7 of 23 PagelD #: 156

27.  In 2005 and earlier, web publishers did not conventionally permit content owners
to participate in a revenue share for advertising. More particularly, impression-based internet ad
revenue belonged to the website-owner / “publisher” alone (in contrast to the content owner of
material uploaded to such sites), and ad campaign portals made no technical accommodation for
distributing a revenue share to web property content owners.

28. It would have been unconventional, non-routine, and not widely understood, in
campaigns in 2005 and earlier, for technology platforms to contemplate ad creatives “on” /
“within” a publisher’s media property. Conventional ad campaign portals did not let “real estate”
for internet ads include placement on or within the publisher’s or third party’s content itself.

29.  All claims of the 898 Patent require campaigns to use ad creatives “within web
property content.” This limitation was unconventional, non-routine, and not widely understood.

30. Also in 2005 and earlier, it would have been unconventional, non-routine, and not
widely understood, to deploy technologies that would allocate, reserve, collect and/or transmit a
revenue share of internet ad revenue to a web property content owner (as opposed to the publisher
itself who hosts such content).

31. All claims of the 898 Patent require an internet advertising system to use technical
means to collect and/or transmit a revenue share of internet ad revenue to a web property content
owner (as opposed to the publisher itself who hosts such content). This limitation was
unconventional, non-routine, and not widely understood.

32. The ordered combination of claims of the 898 Patent was unconventional, non-
routine, and not widely understood, as confirmed through USPTO examination.

33. During prosecution of the *898 Patent, in a Notice of Allowance dated July 5, 2022,

and after describing prior art search results, the Patent Office Examiner made the following
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observations about what was lacking in the prior art, with respect to language in each independent

patent claim:

The references alone or in combination failed to teach the following limitations of
claims 7, 16 and 26 [which became the 898 Patent’s independent claims:]
“generating, by the one or more processors, on a database accessible to the one or
more processors, a repository for advertising revenue based on the selection; based
on obtaining the selection, populating, by the one or more processors, the
advertising material on the at least one website, wherein the populating comprises
placing the advertising material within web property content of the at least one
website; monitoring, by the one or more processors, a number of impressions of the
advertising material provided to users accessing the web property content displayed
on the at least one website; determining, by the one or more processors, whether an
impression of the advertising material is valid, wherein the impression is valid
based on a predetermined impression tracking system; determining, by the one or
more processors, that the number of valid impressions is greater than or equal to
the predetermined number of impressions; upon determining a number of valid
impressions are met, ceasing, by the one or more processors, the populating of the
advertising material on the at least one website; and based on determining a number
of valid impressions are met, electronically collecting, by the one or more
processors, a share of the advertising revenue to be transmitted to the web property
content owner.”

34.  The ordered combination of claim limitations within the inner quotation was neither
routine, conventional nor well understood.

35. The ordered combination of claim limitations within the inner quotation was
completely missing from, and not disclosed in, prior art located by the Examiner.

36.  Google did not identify any prior art disclosing the foregoing ordered combination
in its prior motion to dismiss (D.I. 9, 10).

37. In its motion to dismiss, Google named the “abstract idea” of the claims to be:
“brokering a sales transaction between advertisers and publishers.” Even removing from
consideration the extent to which this “idea” exists in the ordered combination of claim limitations

within the inner quotation above, Google did not identify any prior art disclosing it.
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38.

Before the observations quoted above in the Notice of Allowance, USPTO

Examiners had searched prior art on three separate occasions. The Examiners’ searches were

conducted on December 7, 2021, March 7, 2022 and May 23, 2022. The Examiners searched the

following cooperative patent classifications (CPC’s): G06Q30/0273, G06Q30/02 and G06Q30/02-

0277, corresponding to:

{02051367;v1 }

Physics / INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY [ICT]
SPECIALLY ADAPTED FOR ADMINISTRATIVE, COMMERCIAL,
FINANCIAL, MANAGERIAL OR SUPERVISORY PURPOSES; SYSTEMS OR
METHODS SPECIALLY ADAPTED FOR ADMINISTRATIVE,
COMMERCIAL, FINANCIAL, MANAGERIAL OR
SUPERVISORY PURPOSES, NOT OTHERWISE PROVIDED FOR / Commerce
/ Marketing; Price estimation or determination; Fundraising/Market modelling;
Market analysis; Collecting market data / Determination of Fees for Advertising
Physics / INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY [ICT]
SPECIALLY ADAPTED FOR ADMINISTRATIVE, COMMERCIAL,
FINANCIAL, MANAGERIAL OR SUPERVISORY PURPOSES; SYSTEMS OR
METHODS SPECIALLY ADAPTED FOR ADMINISTRATIVE,
COMMERCIAL, FINANCIAL, MANAGERIAL OR
SUPERVISORY PURPOSES, NOT OTHERWISE PROVIDED FOR / Commerce
/ Marketing; Price estimation or determination; Fundraising; and

Physics / INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY [ICT]
SPECIALLY ADAPTED FOR ADMINISTRATIVE, COMMERCIAL,

FINANCIAL, MANAGERIAL OR SUPERVISORY PURPOSES; SYSTEMS OR
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METHODS SPECIALLY  ADAPTED FOR  ADMINISTRATIVE,
COMMERCIAL, FINANCIAL, MANAGERIAL OR
SUPERVISORY PURPOSES, NOT OTHERWISE PROVIDED FOR / Commerce
/ Marketing; Price estimation or determination; Fundraising/Market modelling;
Market analysis; Collecting market data / (Online Advertisement). The Examiners
also searched a USPTO database specializing in non-patent literature.

39.  Ifany aspect of the claims or their ordered combination were routine, conventional
or well-understood, the Patent Office Examiners’ searches would have unearthed multiple items
of prior art disclosing such aspects, within such CPC categories. That this did not happen confirms
that the *898 Patent claims have “something more” than any expression of a so-called abstract
idea, and contain at least one inventive concept sufficient to make them eligible for patenting.

40. The USPTO’s Cooperative Patent Classification System, under code
G06Q30/0273, is the sub-category “Determination of fees for advertising,” and includes
technological inventions that have historically received patent protection.

41. A search on the USPTO’s Patent Public Search site that includes G06Q30/0273 in
the CPC field, conjoined with “Google” in the assignee field, as of this Amended Complaint, yields
197 results of Google patents and published applications naming that CPC. In other words, Google
itself invents in the “determination of fees for advertising” sub-field.

Google’s Infringing Products and Services

42. Google is a technology company and a provider of advertising services on the
internet. Its portfolio of products and services includes Google Ads, Google AdSense, Google

Maps, Google Pixel, Google Play Store, Google Search, and YouTube, among many others.
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Google provides its products and services both directly and through subsidiaries and business units
it owns and controls.
43, Defendant owns, operates, manages, and provides content for its websites,

including but not limited to google.com (Google Search), ads.google.com (Google Ads),

adsense.google.com (Google AdSense), and youtube.com (YouTube) (collectively, the “Google

Websites). Through its Google Websites, Defendant makes, uses, offers to sell, and sells its
products and services and directs and encourages its users to use and purchase its products and
services.

44.  Defendant’s about.google website states the following: “Advertising is what makes
it possible to offer our products to everyone. While we sell things like Pixel phones, apps on the
Play Store, YouTube subscriptions, and tools for businesses, we make the vast majority of our
money from advertising. . . . We make money selling ad space to businesses—big and small, global
and local—in two key ways. First, businesses can reach potential customers by showing ads on a
range of Google products such as Search, Maps, and YouTube. Second, businesses can buy ad
space that we show on sites and apps that partner with us, like news publications and blogs. In
this case, most of the money goes to the partner and helps fund their content. So ads not only help
support Google but also many other websites and creators.”

45. Google Ads is an online advertising platform that allows its users (“Client(s)”) to
create a variety of online advertisements, including “Search Ads,” “Display Ads,” “Shopping
Ads,” “Video Ads,” and “App Ads.”

46. Google AdSense is an online advertising system that allows publishers of internet-
based content (““Web Property Content Owner(s)”’) to monetize their content by displaying targeted

Google ads within their content.
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47. Defendant conducts business and advertises, operates, offers to sell, and sells
through its Google Websites its products and services, including but not limited to Google Ads
and Google AdSense (collectively, the “Accused Systems”), throughout the United States and
within this District.

48. On information and belief, at all relevant times, Defendant was in the business of
making, using, offering to sell, and selling through its Google Websites its products and services,
including but not limited to the Accused Systems, in the United States and within this District.

49.  Defendant has and continues to infringe, induce others to infringe, and/or
contributorily infringe at least claim 19 of the *898 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and
selling its products and services, including but not limited to the Accused Systems, throughout the
United States and within this District.

50. The Accused Systems operate together as a system to perform an advertiser funding
method by which: (1) Clients upload advertising material and select from a plurality of advertising
buy options; (2) Google accepts advertising revenue and populates web property content (e.g.,
YouTube videos) with the Client’s advertisement in accordance with the selected buy option; (3)
upon meeting a predetermined number of valid impression, Google ceases to populate web
property content with the Client’s advertisement; and (4) Google transmits a share of the
advertising revenue to the Web Property Content Owner. For example, a Client can “create your
video ads with Google Ads,” select “who should see your ad” and “how much you want to spend,”

and have the ads “appear on YouTube™:
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&« C © & https://www.youtube.com/intl/en_us/ads/signup/?subid=us-en-ha-yt-bk-c-exa!o3~CjOKCQiA6t6 ABh DMARIs. e O W Lo
n .\ GOOgle AdS HOW YOU'LL SET UP YOUR AD
You'” create your Video ads W|th 1. Select your video from YouTube A
If the video you want to use for your ad isn't already on
Google Ads

YouTube, upload it now. Don’t have a video?

Get help here.
In a few easy steps your video ad will be up and running. Although

your ad will appear on YouTube, you'll manage your campaign using
Google Ads, an advertising platform used by businesses running ads 2. Choose who should see your ad v
on Google and its advertising network — which includes YouTube.

You'll now be redirected to sign in to or create an Google Ads account. 3. Choose how much you want to spend ./

GET STARTED

51.  Defendant’s Google Ads website states the following: “Through Google Ads, you
can create online ads to reach people exactly when they’re interested in the products and services
that you offer. You choose where your ad appears, set a budget that’s comfortable for you, and
easily measure the impact of your ad.”

52. Google Ads provides a Client with a plurality of buy options for advertising,
including the currency used for purchase, the daily budget, the monthly maximum, and the range
of estimated impressions. The range of estimated impressions offered by Google Ads corresponds
with a Client’s selected budget, for example, a “$15 daily average” and “$456 monthly max”

allows a Client to “[g]et an estimated 500-850 ad clicks each month™:
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(® Select a budget option Currency: US Dollar () ~

S1 0 daily average - $304 monthly max

Get an estimated 330-570 ad clicks each month

Recommended for you @

$1 5 daily average - $456 monthly max v
Get an estimated 500-850 ad clicks each month
$25 daily average - $760 monthly max
Get an estimated 840-1,410 ad clicks each month
53.  Defendant’s Google Ads website further states the following: “Your account will

stop serving ads if your budget is spent or a specific end date is reached. Check your account
budgets regularly to make sure that your ads continue serving.”

54.  Defendant’s Google AdSense website states the following: “Google AdSense is for
publishers. If you own or manage websites, blogs, or forums, and want to monetize them, the
Google AdSense program could be for you. Ads appear on your digital property, and you can earn
revenue based on the number of people who view or engage with these ads.”

55. Google directly infringes the 898 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and
selling in this District and throughout the United States its infringing products and services,
including but not limited to the Accused Systems, through its Google Websites.

56.  Google indirectly infringes the ’898 Patent by inducing, causing, urging,
encouraging, aiding, and abetting the infringement of the *898 Patent by third-party users of the
Accused Systems, including Clients and Web Property Content Owners. Google knowingly and
actively encourages Clients and Web Property Content Owners to use its Accused Systems to
infringe the 898 Patent by advertising the infringing method performed by the Accused Systems

and instructing its third-party users to infringe.
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57. Google knowingly and actively encourages Clients to use its Accused Systems to
infringe the 898 Patent by, for example, offering Clients an initial $500 credit “[t]o help you get

started with Google Ads” as well as “free personalized support” with a “Google Ads Expert”:

Google Ads . 1-877-824-3977 * Sign in 3

To help you get started with Google Ads, we’ll give you $500 in ad credit when you spend $500. Learn more

(™) Display

Show up ]

>

Chat with a Google Ads X
Expert for a 1-to-1
For whatever matters most, make it easier for potential customers to find your business with Google Ads.

Google Ads % 1-877-824-3977 * Sign in a

Spend $500 and get $500 in ad
credit. Terms and conditions
apRly:

D

Let us help.

Get started with our free personalized support. Create your custom ads plan with a Google Ads Expert.

. 1-877-824-3977 B4 Chat with us

Chat with a Google Ads X
Expert for a 1-to-1
consultation at no-cost.

Fillowus B W O

o

58. Google knowingly and actively encourages Web Property Content Owners to use
its Accused Systems to infringe the *898 Patent by, for example, providing Web Property Content
Owners with step-by-step instructions and “help that’s specific to you” from an “AdSense expert”
to monetize their web property content:
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Go g\e AdSense Home Solutions Platforms Success Stories Resources Blog Sign in Get started

Get started

You just need 3 things to get started with AdSense

("
v

one ni onnec

59. Google contributorily infringes the 898 Patent by providing its products and
services, including but not limited to the Accused Systems, to its U.S. users who, in turn, use the

infringing products and services.

COUNT ONE
INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 11.416.898

60. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1-27
herein.

61. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed (literally and/or
under the doctrine of equivalents) at least claim 19 of the 898 Patent by making, using, offering
to sell, and selling in this District and throughout the United States its infringing products and
services, including but not limited to the Accused Systems, through its Google Websites.

62. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), Defendant has infringed (literally and/or under
the doctrine of equivalents) at least claim 19 of the 898 Patent indirectly by inducing, causing,
urging, encouraging, aiding, and abetting the infringement of the *898 Patent claim by third-party

users of the Accused Systems, including Clients and Web Property Content Owners. Defendant
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knowingly and actively encourages Clients and Web Property Content Owners to use its Accused
Systems to infringe the *898 Patent by advertising the infringing method performed by the Accused
Systems and instructing its third-party users to infringe.

63. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), Defendant has infringed (literally and/or under
the doctrine of equivalents) at least claim 19 of the ’898 Patent indirectly by contributing to the
infringement of at least claim 19 of the 898 Patent. Defendant provides its products and services,
including but not limited to the Accused Systems, to its U.S. users who, in turn, use the infringing
products and services.

64. On information and belief, Defendant had knowledge of the 898 Patent since at
least as early as August 2022, when the *898 Patent issued.

65. On January 31, 2024, Defendant was mailed a letter and a draft of this Complaint
via FedEx First Overnight noticing Defendant of its infringement of the *898 Patent. The letter
and Complaint were mailed to Defendant’s General Counsel Halimah DeLaine Prado at
Defendant’s Mountain View headquarters, where receipt was confirmed. On or about February 9,
2024, Defendant received the original as-filed Complaint in this action, providing further notice to
Defendant of its infringement.

66. On information and belief, while fully aware that its products and services,
including but not limited to the Accused Systems, infringed one or more of the claims of the *898
Patent, Defendant made, used, offered to sell, and sold its infringing products and services and
induced others to use its infringing products and services.

67. As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the 898 Patent, Plaintiff has suffered
monetary losses for which it is entitled to an award of damages that is adequate to compensate

Plaintiff for the infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 284, in no event less than a reasonable royalty.
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68. On information and belief, Defendant’s infringement of the 898 Patent has been
deliberate, willful, and with full knowledge, or willful blindness to knowledge, of the *898 Patent.

69.  Plaintiff has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial by reason of
Defendant’s willful infringement of the 898 Patent.

70.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet each and every element of at least claim 19 of
the "898 Patent. The Accused Systems meet the preamble “[a] system comprising.” Google Ads
and Google AdSense, together with the Google Websites, operate as a system.

71.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “a memory.” The Accused
Systems employ various types of memory, including the servers operated and maintained by
Google, which store and maintain information provided by Clients and Web Property Content
Owners.

72.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “one or more processors in
communication with the memory.” The Accused Systems consist of various processors in
communication with the memory, including Google server processors, Client processors, and Web
Property Content Owner processors.

73. Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “program instructions
executable by the processor via the memory to perform a method, the method comprising.” The
Accused Systems utilize source code, i.e., program instructions, executable by processors via the
memory to perform a method described below.

74. Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “receiving, by the one or
more processors, from a given client, over an Internet-based communication link from a browsing
application executed on the given client processor to the one or more processors, a message

comprising data, the data comprising advertising material to populate on one or more websites.”
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The Accused Systems are configured to receive, by one or more processors, from a given Client,
over an internet-based communication link from a browsing application executed on the given
Client processor to one or more processors, a message comprising data, the data comprising
advertising material to populate on one or more websites. For example, the Google Ads website
allows a Client to upload advertising material that will populate on one or more websites, such as
YouTube, Google Search, or various websites maintained by Google or affiliates.

75.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “identifying, by the one or
more processors, the given client, based on receiving the message, an identifier, wherein the
message comprises the identifier.” The Accused Systems require that a Client have a Google
account to sign in, and the Client’s advertisement, i.e., the message, is identified with the Client’s
account.

76.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “based on a message
provided by a given client, generating, by the one or more processors, a webpage, wherein the
generating comprises providing, via a graphical user interface of the webpage, a plurality of
advertising buy options for selection by a given client accessing said webpage.” The Accused
Systems generate, by one or more processors, a webpage that provides a Client with a plurality of
buy options on the Client’s graphical user interface for the Client’s selection. For example, Google
Ads provides a Client with a plurality of buy options for advertising, including the currency used
for purchase, the daily budget, the monthly maximum, and the range of estimated impressions.

77. Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “obtaining, by the one or
more processors, via an input in the graphical user interface, a selection of one or more of the
advertising buy options, wherein the selected one or more advertising buy options comprise at

least one website of the respective websites and a predetermined number of impressions of the

£02051367;v1 } 19



Case 1:24-cv-00173-JCB Document 19 Filed 09/13/24 Page 20 of 23 PagelD #: 169

2

advertising material for users visiting the at least one website.” The Accused Systems obtain a
Client’s selection of one or more advertising buy options, which comprise the respective websites
and a predetermined number of impressions. For example, Google Ads obtains a Client’s selection
of buy options, which involve showing the Client’s advertisement on one or more websites, such
as YouTube, Google Search, or various websites maintained by Google or affiliates, and a
predetermined number of impressions.

78.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “generating, by the one or
more processors, on a database accessible to the one or more processors, a repository for
advertising revenue based on the selection.” The Accused Systems generate a repository for
advertising revenue and accept payment for an advertisement campaign based on a Client’s
selection of a buy option.

79.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “based on obtaining the
selection, populating, by the one or more processors, the advertising material on the at least one
website, wherein the populating comprises placing the advertising material within web property
content of the at least one website.” The Accused Systems populate, by one or more processors,
a Client’s advertising material within web property content of at least one website.

80. Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “monitoring, by the one or
more processors, a number of impressions of the advertising material provided to users accessing
the web property content displayed on the at least one website.” The Accused Systems monitor,
by one or more processors, the number of impressions the displayed advertising material obtains,
and Clients can view the number of impressions a specific advertisement obtains.

81. Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “determining, by the one or

more processors, whether an impression of the advertising material is valid, wherein the
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impression is valid based on a predetermined impression tracking system.” The Accused Systems
determine, by one or more processors, whether an impression is valid based on a predetermined
impression tracking system by which invalid impressions are excluded.

82.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “determining, by the one or
more processors, that the number of valid impressions is greater than or equal to the predetermined
number of impressions.” The Accused Systems determine, by one or more processors, that the
number of valid impressions is greater than or equal to the predetermined number of impressions.

83.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “upon determining a number
of valid impressions are met, ceasing, by the one or more processors, the populating of the

2

advertising material on the at least one website.” The Accused Systems cease, by one or more
processors, the populating of a Client’s advertising material upon determining that the
predetermined number of valid impressions is met.

84.  Defendant’s Accused Systems meet the claim element “based on determining a
number of valid impressions are met, electronically collecting, by the one or more processors, a
share of the advertising revenue to be transmitted to the web property content owner.” The
Accused Systems electronically collect, by one or more processors, shares of the advertising
revenue to be transmitted to Web Property Content Owners. For example, Web Property Content

Owners can register with Google AdSense to monetize their content.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for relief, as follows:

A. Declaring that Plaintiff is the owner of all right, title, and interest in and to United
States Patent No. 11,416,898, together with all rights of recovery under such patent for past
infringement thereof;

B. Declaring that United States Patent No. 11,416,898 is valid and enforceable in law
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and that Defendant has infringed said patent;

C. Awarding to Plaintiff its damages caused by Defendant’s infringement of United
States Patent No. 11,416,898;

D. Entering a preliminary and permanent injunction against Defendant, its officers,
employees, attorneys, all parent and subsidiary corporations and affiliates, their assigns and
successors in interest, and those persons in active concert or participation with any of them who
receive notice of the injunction, enjoining them from continuing acts of infringement of United
States Patent No. 11,416,898;

E. Declaring that Defendant’s infringement has been willful and said damages be
trebled pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284;

F. Declaring that this is an exceptional case and awarding to Plaintiff its costs,
expenses, and reasonable attorney fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285; and

G. Awarding to Plaintiff such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and
proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

In accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury for all

issues triable by jury.
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Of Counsel:

Robert P. Greenspoon

William W. Flachsbart

Mark Magas

Dunlap Bennett & Ludwig, PLLC
333 N. Michigan Avenue, 27th Floor
Chicago, IL 60601

(312) 551-9500
rgreenspoon@dbllawyers.com
wflachsbart@dbllawyers.com
mmagas@dbllawyers.com

Dated: September 13, 2024
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